SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIS INDUSTRIES CORPORATION, ET AL.,	**		
·	**		
Petitioners,			
·	**		
VS.		Case No.	83,016
	**		
GROUND IMPROVEMENT TECHNIQUES,			
INC., ET AL.,	**		
Respondents.			

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District Case No. 92-3127

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS



th

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court pursuant to a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Fifth District certified the following question of great public importance:

Does the prevailing party test of <u>Moritz v. Hoyt</u> <u>Enterprises</u>, 604 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1992), apply to an award of attorneys' fees made pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756, Florida Statutes?

Petitioners Danis Industries Corporation, and Seaboard Surety Company are referred to collectively as petitioners and individually as "Danis" or "Seaboard" as appropriate. Respondent Ground Improvement Techniques, Inc. is referred to as "GIT" and respondent Fidelity and Deposit Insurance Company of Maryland is referred to as "F&D." Citations to the record on appeal are indicated as R: _____ with the appropriate page number inserted. Citations to the transcript of the hearing held October 13, 1992, are indicated as T: _____ with the appropriate page number of the transcript inserted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Danis contracted with Orange County, Florida to furnish labor, services and materials in connection with the construction of landfill and stormwater improvements at the Orange County Landfill (the "project"). R: 6-11. On October 23, 1989, Danis and GIT entered into a subcontract which obligated GIT to perform a portion of the work on the project. R: 12-21. During the course of GIT's performance of the subcontract, several disputes arose between Danis and GIT. Paragraph 32(c) of the subcontract provided that either party could demand arbitration of any disputes arising out of GIT's performance. R: 18. Pursuant to that section, Danis and GIT each filed a demand for arbitration. R: 60, 84. Danis' demand was filed first and Danis was identified as the claimant in the arbitration; GIT was the respondent. R: 27.

In its demand, Danis claimed that GIT breached the contract in numerous respects as a result of which Danis incurred damages. R: 60-65. Danis withheld the damages it claimed resulted from GIT's breaches of the contract which totaled \$413,212.31. This backcharge was specifically authorized by the subcontract. R: 16. Danis also withheld \$68,293.12 in retainage, pending payment from the owner pursuant to a "pay-when-paid" clause in the subcontract. Danis' demand for arbitration acknowledged GIT's dispute with regard to Danis' entitlement to withhold funds and requested resolution of the dispute by a panel of arbitrators in accordance with the subcontract agreement.

GIT's initial demand for arbitration recognized Danis' entitlement to a backcharge because GIT claimed that Danis owed only \$298,230.00. R: 84. GIT subsequently amended its claim, however, alleging Danis breached the contract resulting in extra work and expense to GIT. GIT's amended claim sought all the money withheld by Danis plus breach of contract damages totalling almost \$800,000.00 plus interest, costs and attorneys' fees. R: 121, 139. By the time of the arbitration, GIT's total claim exceeded \$1.1 million.

After a nine day hearing, the arbitrators rejected entirely GIT's \$800,000.00 breach of contract claim against Danis and expressly found that GIT was liable to Danis for \$215,588.00 on Danis' breach of contract claims against GIT. R: 27. The arbitrators further found that Danis had withheld more than it was entitled to and required Danis to pay \$214,575.00 of the disputed amounts it had withheld plus the \$68,293.12 of retainage. Thus, the net result of the award was payment by Danis to GIT of \$282,868.12. However, Danis was not required to pay the \$68,293.12 until Danis received its retainage from the County. Danis had never disputed GIT's entitlement to the retainage once that amount was paid to Danis. R: 138.

On June 5, 1991, GIT filed the present action against Danis and Seaboard seeking to confirm the arbitrator's award pursuant to the Florida Arbitration Code. § 682 Fla. Stat. (1991). The complaint alleged that the action was against Seaboard on a construction payment bond (R: 1) and requested attorneys' fees

pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756 of the Florida Statutes. R: 1-5. Danis and Seaboard answered and Danis counterclaimed against GIT and its surety, F&D. R: 28. Danis likewise sought confirmation of the arbitration award and attorneys' fees against F&D. R: 33-34.

The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. R: 53, 68. Danis argued that it was entitled to attorneys' fees as the prevailing party because the arbitrators' award contained the finding that GIT breached the subcontract and because Danis overall prevailed on the significant issues in dispute. R: 55. GIT argued that because it was the recipient of money, it was the prevailing party entitled to attorneys' fees under the statute. R: 68-76. Additionally, F&D filed a response in opposition to Danis' motion for summary judgment also arguing that Danis was not the prevailing party under the standard established by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Casavan v. Land O'Lakes Realty</u>, 542 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). R: 168-176.

On February 26, 1992, Circuit Court Judge Lawrence R. Kirkwood entered an order granting GIT's motion for summary judgment. R: 196-200. Prior to the order, Danis had paid GIT the full \$282,868.00 ordered by the arbitrators. R: 199. Therefore, the only remaining issues related to entitlement and amount of attorneys' fees. The court found GIT entitled to attorneys' fees pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756 and reserved jurisdiction to determine the amount. R: 200.

GIT did not file its motion to tax fees and costs until June 17, 1992. R: 201-259. Before the trial court ruled on the motion, this Court rendered its decision in Moritz v. Hoyt Enterprises, Inc., 604 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1992), where it disapproved held that the definition of prevailing party for Casavan and purposes of an attorneys' fee award is the party who prevailed on the significant issues in the case. Id. at 810. Based on that decision, Danis filed a motion for reconsideration of GIT's entitlement. R: 277-286. A hearing was held on October 13, 1992. On November 17, 1992, Judge Kirkwood denied the motion for reconsideration (R: 305) and entered summary final judgment in The final summary judgment awarded GIT favor of GIT. R: 324. \$142,200.72 in attorneys' fees, \$114.50 in costs, plus \$25,598.00 in prejudgment interest on the fees and costs, for a total judgment of \$167,913.22 in fees, costs and prejudgment interest.

Danis and Seaboard appealed the final judgment to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. GIT moved to dismiss, arguing that the appeal was an untimely effort to attack the underlying arbitration award and that Danis had no standing to challenge the fee award. Danis and Seaboard responded pointing out that the appeal was not an attack on the award, that the award was in Danis' favor and that the only error raised by the appeal concerned the award of attorneys' fees which was not final until November 17, 1992. The Fifth District summarily denied GIT's motion to dismiss.

On appeal, Danis and Seaboard argued that the standard for determining the prevailing party was established in <u>Moritz</u> and that

the trial court therefore erred in awarding GIT attorneys' fees. On October 22, 1993, the Fifth District entered an opinion rejecting the applicability of <u>Moritz</u> to cases in which an attorneys' fee award is authorized by sections 627.428 and 627.756 of the Florida Statutes. That decision rested in part on the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Prosperi v. Code Inc.</u>, 609 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). In <u>Prosperi</u>, the Fourth District held that <u>Moritz</u> did not apply to mechanic's lien actions where Chapter 713.29 authorizes attorneys' fee awards. At the time, <u>Prosperi</u> was pending in this Court based on the Fourth District's certification that the following question was one of great public importance:

Does the test of <u>Moritz v. Hoyt</u> for determining who is the prevailing party for the purposes of awarding attorneys' fees apply to fees awarded under section 713.29, Florida Statutes?

Danis and Seaboard timely filed a motion for reconsideration requesting that the Fifth District certify essentially the same question which had been certified by the Fourth District in <u>Prosperi</u>, substituting sections 627.428 and 627.756 for section 713.29. While that motion was pending, this Court reversed <u>Prosperi</u> and held that the <u>Moritz</u> standard does apply to awards for attorneys' fees in actions brought pursuant to Chapter 713. See <u>Prosperi v. Code, Inc.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S607 (Fla. November 8, 1993).

On December 23, 1993, the Fifth District denied the motion for rehearing, but withdrew its original opinion in this case and

issued an amended opinion which certified the question as requested

by Petitioners:

Does the prevailing party test of <u>Moritz v. Hoyt</u> <u>Enterprises</u>, 604 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1992), apply to an award of attorneys' fees made pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756, Florida Statutes.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue in this case is whether the analysis for determining entitlement to attorneys' fees established by this Court in <u>Moritz</u> <u>v. Hoyt Enterprises, Inc.</u>, 604 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1992) should be ignored because the action raises a claim on a construction bond. The Fifth District Court of Appeal rejected <u>Moritz</u>, ruling that the standard for determining prevailing party when fees are awarded pursuant to sections 67.428 and 67.756 of the Florida Statutes differs from the standard which applies in every other case. There is no legal or logical basis for the Fifth District's conclusion.

While this case was pending in the circuit court, this Court decided Moritz. While the case was pending in the district court, this Court decided Prosperi v. Code, Inc., 626 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1993). In Prosperi, the Court overruled the Fourth District Court of Appeal and held that the prevailing party standard of Moritz applies to mechanic's lien actions. Mechanic's lien actions and actions brought under a public construction bond issued pursuant to Section 255.05 serve the same public purpose. Section 255.05 and Chapter 713, the mechanic's lien law, both are designed to protect laborers and suppliers on construction projects. Α party who does not prevail on a mechanic's lien action should be treated the same as a party who does not prevail in an action on a construction bond. Under the Fifth District's decision in this case, they are treated differently.

The Fifth District relied on cases which concerned only a claim by an insured against an insurer where the insurer denies

liability on an insurance policy. In those cases, courts have held that where the insured rejects an offer and ultimately recovers less than or equal to the amount of the offer, the insured is not a prevailing party. The Fifth District construed the cases as holding that a party prevails against an insurer or a surety whenever no offer is made and some amount of recovery is obtained. The analysis is essentially a net recovery theory which the Fifth District had applied prior to being overruled by this Court in Moritz. Although the general rule established in the cases cited by the Fifth District may be sound when attorneys' fees are awarded solely because the action is one brought by an insured against an insurer, the result is not necessarily the same when the attorneys' fee is authorized by section 627.756 because the action arises out of a claim on a construction bond.

In actions which only involve section 627.428, there generally is no need to determine whether one party prevailed on the "significant issues" as discussed in <u>Moritz</u>. In those cases, there is only one claim, that of the insured against the insurer. The insurer has no affirmative claim for relief against the insured, nor is it likely that the insurer would be retaining funds of the insured. When actions are brought against a section 255.05 construction bond, however, the circumstances may be quite different. In such cases, it is likely that parties on both sides will be asserting affirmative claims because the cause of action is a traditional contract dispute. When there are affirmative claims

and partial recoveries on both sides, the significant issue analysis established in <u>Moritz</u> is applicable.

In the original opinion in this case, the Fifth District relied in part on <u>Prosperi</u> and other mechanic's lien cases as justifying its refusal to apply <u>Moritz</u>. While the original opinion was pending on rehearing, this court overruled the Fourth District's decision in <u>Prosperi</u>. In spite of the original reliance on the Fourth District's decision in <u>Prosperi</u>, the Fifth District virtually ignored this Court's rulings and carved out an exception to <u>Moritz</u> without any analytical or logical basis for doing so.

The Fifth District erred in rejecting the significant issue standard for determining prevailing party. Under that standard, it is indisputable that Danis prevailed. Therefore, the Court should reverse the District Court and remand with instructions that a final judgment be entered finding that GIT did not prevail in its action against the bond and therefore is not entitled to an award of attorneys' fees.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REJECTING THE PREVAILING PARTY STANDARD ESTABLISHED BY THIS COURT IN <u>MORITZ</u>.

According to the Fifth District's decision in this case, a prevailing party in Florida is one thing when attorneys' fees are authorized by sections 627.428 and 627.756 of the Florida Statutes but is something altogether different in every other context. The District Court's conclusion is not supported by the cases it cited nor does any logical basis exist for the distinction.

Section 627.428 of the Florida Statutes authorizes the award of attorneys' fees when an insured prevails on a claim against an insurer. <u>Lachance v. Sagumeri</u>, 537 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. den. 545 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1989). Section 627.756 of the Florida Statutes makes section 627.428 applicable to suits against a surety on a construction bond. Section 255.05 of the Florida Statutes requires contractors on public construction projects to post a construction bond. This case concerns a claim against a construction bond issued pursuant to section 255.05.

Relying on Westinghouse Electric Corp. v. Schaffer & Miller, <u>Inc.</u>, 515 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), rev. den. 525 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1988) and <u>Greenough v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Company</u>, 449 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984)¹ the Fifth District concluded that a claimant on a construction bond prevails if there is a flow of

¹In its original opinion the Fifth District also relied on <u>C.U.</u> <u>Associates v. R.B. Grove, Inc.</u>, 472 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 1985), a mechanic's lien case implicitly overruled by <u>Prosperi</u>. In the substituted opinion, the Fifth District omitted the citation to <u>C.U. Associates</u>.

dollars to the claimant and no prior settlement offer. Technically, the court misstates the rule of law established by the cited case, but more importantly, the analytical basis for those decisions simply does not apply to the present circumstance.

The District Court stated that the rule of <u>Greenough</u> is that "a prevailing insured is one who obtains judgment in its favor and against an insurer in an amount which is greater than any offer of settlement previously tendered by the insurer." Because Seaboard did not tender a settlement offer and GIT recovered dollars, the court concluded that GIT obtained a judgment greater than any offer of settlement previously tendered.

First, what <u>Greenough</u> and <u>Westinghouse</u> actually establish is that an insured who <u>rejects</u> a settlement offer and ultimately recovers an amount less than or equal to the offer shall not be considered the prevailing party. The rule is not as stated by the Fifth District that any time an insured recovers an amount where there has been no offer, the insured prevails. Greenough and Westinghouse concerned only section 627.428, the statute which authorizes fees when an insured prevails against an insurer. The opinions did not consider the effect of section 627.756 which makes 627.428 applicable to actions by a claimant on a construction bond. It is true that in cases such as Greenough and Westinghouse, where section 672.756 is not a factor, the insured who recovers money generally will prevail. Where, as here however, the attorneys' fees are authorized by section 627.756 because the case is one

involving a construction contract for which a bond was issued, that is not necessarily the result.

In actions such as <u>Greenough</u> and <u>Westinghouse</u> between an insured and insurer, the fundamental issue is whether coverage exists. The insured claims entitlement to funds and the insurer denies that entitlement. The insurer has no affirmative claim for relief against the insured, nor is it likely to be holding retainage or other funds from the insured. In those cases, there usually is no reason or need to analyze which side prevails. If the insured recovers, he prevails. The only time there is a question is if the insurer makes an offer which is rejected and the insured ultimately fares worse than he would have had he accepted. In those cases, the courts have determined that the insured is <u>not</u> the prevailing party.

When the authorization for attorneys' fees is triggered by section 627.756 however, the analysis is quite different. If section 627.756 applies, it is because the case arises out of a construction contract dispute and a claim has been made against the bond. In such cases it is not unusual to have parties on both sides asserting affirmative claims because the cause of action is a traditional contract dispute. There will likely be issues regarding retainage and contract payments. Such cases require a determination of who prevailed on the significant issues as established by this Court in Moritz.

Prior to Moritz, a conflict existed among the district courts with respect to determining who prevails when there are multiple

claims among the parties and partial recoveries or relief on both sides. The majority of the districts held, as this Court ultimately did, that in such situations fairness requires a determination of who prevails on the significant issues. The Fifth District, however, held that the party obtaining a net recovery, i.e., the party to whom dollars flowed was the prevailing party. <u>Casavan v. Land O'Lakes Realty, Inc.</u>, 542 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

A variation of the net recovery analysis also had been applied in actions under the mechanic's lien law prior to this Court's decision in Prosperi v. Code, Inc., 626 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1993). The rule had been that an owner who prevailed on a mechanics lien claim but against whom a judgment for breach of contract was rendered did not enjoy a net recovery and therefore was not the prevailing party entitled to attorneys' fees pursuant to section 713.29. Prosperi v. Code, Inc., 609 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). The Fifth District's original opinion in this case relied on the Fourth District's Prosperi decision as support for its effort to avoid the Moritz standard. Like the Fourth District in Prosperi, the Fifth District concluded that the net recovery standard should be applied to actions involving construction bonds. The Fifth District recognized that its ruling was inconsistent with Moritz but analogized this case to Prosperi because Moritz also preceded the Fourth District's decision in Prosperi.

When this Court reversed the Fourth District's ruling in <u>Prosperi</u>, it became clear that superficial application of the net

recovery rule will not be permitted in breach of contract actions. Rather, courts must determine which party prevailed on the significant issues before awarding or denying attorneys' fees.

Although the Fifth District modified its reference to Prosperi when it filed its substituted opinion, the opinion includes no rationale for differentiating between cases such as the present one brought under a section 255.05 construction bond, and cases such as <u>Prosperi</u> brought under the mechanic's lien law. In fact, no rational justification for the disparity exists. Because public property cannot be liened, the legislature created section 255.05 to afford workers and suppliers on public projects the same kind of protection available on private jobs under the mechanic's lien provisions of Chapter 713. Miller v. Knob Const. Co., 368 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). In spite of the identity of purpose in actions authorized by section 255.05 and actions authorized by chapter 713, the Fifth District clings to the net recovery standard it established in Casavan. For the reasons explained in Moritz, that standard is not appropriate when there are affirmative claims for relief on both sides.

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