IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,016

Danis Industries Corp., and Seaboard Surety Co.,

Petitioners,

vs.

Ground Improvement Techniques, Inc. and Fidelity and Deposit Insurance Company of Maryland,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 92-3127

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

HOLLAND & KNIGHT

Steven R. Schooley Florida Bar No. 656577 Leslie K. O'Neal Florida Bar No. 250465 Christopher V. Carlyle Florida Bar No. 991007 Post Office Box 1526 Orlando, Florida 32802 (407) 425-8500

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue in this case is whether a surety/insurer can avoid its statutory obligation to pay the attorney's fees incurred by an insured in gaining a liability judgment against the insurer. The trial court granted GIT summary judgment against Seaboard on an arbitration award and found GIT entitled to an attorney's fees recovery pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756 of the Florida Insurance Code (R 196-200). The court rendered Summary Final Judgment in favor of GIT and against Seaboard awarding fees, costs, and prejudgment interest<sup>5</sup> (R 324-25). The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the liability judgment entered in favor of GIT and against Seaboard. Danis Indus. Corp. and Seaboard Surety Co. v. Ground Improvement Techniques, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D20, D21 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). This appeal is the last in a succession of unsuccessful attempts by Seaboard to avoid the statutory obligations that it incurred as an insurer under its payment bond. Seaboard argues that the prevailing party standard of <u>Moritz</u> should be applied to extinguish GIT's entitlement to judgment against Seaboard pursuant to sections 627.428 and Seaboard's argument ignores the intent and clear 627.756. statutory language of the Florida Insurance Code.

Florida Statutes section 627.428 entitles an insured to attorney's fees upon rendition of a liability judgment against the insurer. Section 627.756 applies section 627.428 to actions by subcontractors as "insureds" against sureties on construction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Summary Final Judgment on appeal (R 324-25) incorporates by reference the prior Summary Judgment Order (R 196-200).

bonds. This clear statutory scheme, relied on by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in affirming the trial court judgment against Seaboard, should likewise be recognized by this Court. The prevailing party standard of <u>Moritz</u>, appropriate in certain contract actions, has no logical applicability to this case against Seaboard. To permit such an application would contravene the statutory language of sections 627.428 and 627.756.

In an action brought pursuant to section 627.756, a subcontractor/insured is entitled to recover the attorney's fees incurred in obtaining a judgment against the insurer. Despite the Petitioners' arguments to the contrary, the underlying contract dispute, and any "prevailing party" issues associated with that action, can not be used to circumvent the obligations of the surety/insurer. To permit a surety to ignore its obligations after rendition of a judgment based on the surety/insurer's characterization of the underlying dispute is illogical, unfair, and completely ignores the statutory scheme established by the legislature.

Contrary to the Petitioners' arguments, neither this Court's decision in <u>Prosperi v. Code, Inc.</u>, 626 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1993), nor section 713.29, Florida Statutes have any application to this matter. <u>Prosperi</u> involved an action to foreclose a mechanic's lien pursuant to Florida Statute section 713.29. The lien statute specifically requires a trial court to determine the "prevailing party" in an underlying dispute. However, sections 627.428 and 627.756, which are at issue in this cause, concern the liability of an insurer for attorney's fees after a judgment

is rendered against the insurer. The statutory provisions applicable to each scenario are entirely different and there is no basis to apply either <u>Prosperi</u> or section 713.29 to the present matter.

Finally, Petitioners' desperate effort to recharacterize Danis as the prevailing party in the underlying arbitration is incorrect and irrelevant. Seaboard's obligation to GIT is completely unrelated to any self-serving characterization given to the arbitration results. Seaboard simply refused to participate in the arbitration (R 118). Danis now seeks to have this Court review the arbitration proceedings previously decided in favor of GIT and thereby divert attention from the question certified in this matter.

#### ARGUMENT

#### CERTIFIED QUESTION

Does the prevailing party test of <u>Moritz v. Hoyt</u> <u>Enterprises</u>, 604 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1992), apply to an award of attorneys' fees made pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756, Florida Statutes?

The question certified to this Court addresses the application of the <u>Moritz</u> prevailing party test to actions arising under sections 627.428 and 627.756. The statutory scheme applicable to this cause requires an award of attorney's fees in favor of an insured upon rendition of a judgment against the insurer. The insurer has no "prevailing party" entitlement pursuant to this statutory scheme. Therefore, under the facts of this case, Seaboard can not avoid its statutory liability to GIT. The question certified must be answered negatively.

## A. UNDER FLORIDA STATUTES 627.428 AND 627.756, AN INSURED IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES INCURRED IN OBTAINING A JUDGMENT AGAINST AN INSURER

The issue in this case is whether a surety should be able to avoid its statutory obligation to pay the attorney's fees incurred by an insured in gaining a judgment against the insurer. Throughout the lengthy history of this matter, Seaboard has continuously fought to deny its statutory obligations as an insurer. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of GIT against Seaboard establishing liability and awarding attorney's fees pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756 (R 196-200). The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the liability judgment against Seaboard, but it reversed for further review as to the amounts to be awarded GIT. <u>See supra</u> note 4.

Nevertheless, Seaboard is now attempting to resist its statutory liability to GIT by arguing that the prevailing party standard of <u>Moritz</u> relieves it of this statutory duty. Seaboard's argument must fail because it contradicts the applicable statutes.

In order to determine entitlement to attorney's fees under sections 627.428 and 627.756, the statutory language must first be examined. Section 627.428 concerns attorney's fees in insurance actions, and states in pertinent part:

Upon the rendition of a judgement or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had.

§ 627.428(1), Fla. Stat. (1993). This unambiguous statute states that an insured is entitled to attorney's fees when a judgement is rendered against an insurer. The statutory authorization is extended to suits brought by subcontractors against a surety by virtue of section 627.756, which reads:

Section 627.428 applies to suits brought by owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen against a surety insurer under payment or performance bonds written by the insurer under the laws of this state to indemnify against pecuniary loss by breach of a building or construction contract. Owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen shall be deemed to be insureds or beneficiaries for the purposes of this section.

§ 627.756, Fla. Stat. (1993) (emphasis added). As with section 627.428, the statutory language could not be more clear. A subcontractor, deemed by this section to be an insured, shall

recover attorney's fees pursuant to section 627.428 after a judgment is rendered against the surety insurer.

The trial court granted GIT summary judgment against Seaboard pursuant to the arbitration award (R 199-200) and thereafter rendered final summary judqment (R 324-25). Therefore, GIT, an "insured" as defined by section 627.756, is entitled to attorney's fees under section 627.428 for the judgment rendered against the insurer, Seaboard. The Fifth District recognized the applicability of the above statutes in rendering its opinion; in fact, the court cited both sections to support its decision.<sup>6</sup> The application of the above statutes to the facts in this case was completely proper. The Fifth District was correct in explicitly rejecting the application of Moritz to relieve Seaboard from its attorney's fees liability under sections 627.428 and 627.756.7

Moritz involved a contract action that required a prevailing party test to determine entitlement to contractual attorney's fees. However, sections 627.428 and 627.756 <u>do not</u> involve a traditional contract dispute, but rather mandate an attorney's fees award <u>after a judgment has been rendered against an insurer</u>. The Florida Insurance Code leaves no room for an insurer to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The Fifth District clearly relied upon the statutory language as the basis for its opinion, notwithstanding Petitioners' statements to the contrary that "[t]here is no legal or logical basis for the Fifth District's conclusion." <u>See</u> Initial Brief of Petitioners at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>As the Fifth District stated, "[w]e reject appellants' contention because the prevailing party standard of <u>Moritz</u> does not apply to an award of attorney's fees made pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756, Florida Statutes (1989)."

quibble with respect to "prevailing party" issues after judgment is rendered in favor of an insured. Actions brought pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756 concern the insurer's liability obligation. This obligation can not be avoided by an insurers' self-serving characterization of the underlying action. To hold otherwise would ignore the language of sections 627.428 and 627.756, and would open the door for insurers to contest responsibility for attorney's fees arising out of valid judgments entered against them.

The legal basis for Seaboard's liability in this case is well settled. In <u>Insurance Co. of North America v. Acousti</u> <u>Engineering Co. of Florida</u>, 579 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1991), this Court specifically held that sections 627.428 and 627.756 authorized awarding attorney's fees to subcontractors that were incurred during arbitration against a construction bond surety. The Fifth District relied on the <u>Acousti</u> decision in affirming the trial court's judgment against Seaboard.<sup>8</sup> The <u>Acousti</u> decision specifically adopted the opinion in <u>Fewox v. McMerit Construction</u> <u>Co.</u>, 556 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (en banc), <u>approved by</u> <u>Insurance Co. of North America v. Accousti Engineering Co. of</u> <u>Florida</u>, 579 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1991), a case very similar to this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Danis Indus. Corp. and Seaboard Surety Co. v. Ground Improvement Techniques, Inc., 19 Fla. L. Weekly D20, D21 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) ("Thus, under sections 627.428 and 627.756, a subcontractor who prevails in arbitration proceedings against a contractor or its surety is entitled to recover from the surety the attorney's fees incurred by the subcontractor during arbitration. Insurance Co. of North America v. Acousti Engineering Co., 579 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1991)").

In Fewox, the claimants filed suit seeking recovery against a construction surety bond because the surety's principal (the general contractor) failed to fulfill its contract duties on the The lawsuit was stayed to permit the project. Id. at 420. claimants to initiate arbitration against the general contractor, and the surety failed to participate in the arbitration proceedings. Id. The claimants obtained an arbitration award against the general contractor which the contractor satisfied before the trial court confirmed the award. Id. Claimants then demanded an award of attorneys' fees against the surety pursuant to sections 627.428 and 627.756. Id. The trial court denied the award, but the appellate court later reversed, ruling that the attorneys' fees recoverable under these statutes included those incurred during the arbitration. Id. at 425.

The <u>Fewox</u> court also ruled that voluntary payment of the arbitration award by the contractor or the surety was the "functional equivalent" of a confession of judgment. <u>Id.</u> at 424. The surety could not escape liability for attorneys' fees simply by allowing its principal to pay the award prior to rendition of a judgment. <u>Id.</u> In addition, although the surety was not a party to the arbitration, the court held that

where a surety has actual notice of arbitration proceedings instituted against its principal, the surety will be bound by an arbitration determination against its principal and the recipient of the award will be entitled to an order confirming the arbitration award in its favor, not only against the principal but also against the surety.

## <u>Id.</u> at 425.

This case is almost identical to Fewox. GIT initiated an

arbitration against the general contractor, Danis, in which the surety, Seaboard, although notified of the proceedings, refused to participate. At the conclusion of the arbitration proceedings, GIT obtained an award against Danis. Danis' payment of the award was the functional equivalent of a confession of judgment against Seaboard. Therefore, pursuant to section 627.428 and section 627.756, GIT is entitled to recover attorney's fees against Seaboard for the legal costs incurred in the arbitration proceedings and the confirmation action.

Numerous other Florida cases provide additional support for the final judgment entered in this case. See Park Shore Development Co. v. Higley South, Inc., 556 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 2d and DCA 1990) (Sections 627.428 627.756 authorized subcontractor's award of attorneys' fees incurred in arbitration proceedings against surety insurer), approved by Insurance Co. of North America v. Accousti Engineering Co. of Florida, 579 So. 2d (Fla. 1991); Fitzgerald & Co. v. Roberts Electrical 77 Contractors, Inc., 533 So. 2d 789 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (subcontractor can recover attorneys' fees and costs against payment bond surety under sections 627.428 and 627.756 after arbitrating claims against general contractor); Kidder Electric of Florida, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 530 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (surety under payment bond is bound by arbitration determination that subcontractor is entitled to payment from surety's principal (the contractor)); Von Engineering Co. v. R. W. Roberts Construction Co., 457 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (payment bond surety's failure to

participate in arbitration between surety's principal and unpaid subcontractor will not insulate the insurer from liability).

As the above discussion has indicated, Seaboard's liability to GIT was mandated by this Court's decision in <u>Acousti</u>. Numerous other Florida cases also support the Fifth District's decision. Seaboard's statutory liability can not be circumvented by applying <u>Moritz</u> to actions arising under sections 627.428 and 627.756.

# B. THE PETITIONERS' ARGUMENT THAT THE PREVAILING PARTY TEST SHOULD APPLY TO ACTIONS ARISING UNDER SECTION 627.756 IS WITHOUT MERIT

Petitioners urge this court to recognize a distinction between actions brought under section 627.428, and actions where section 627.428 is invoked pursuant to section 627.756. The Petitioners' argument, devoid of any case law or statutory basis, is as follows: "Although the general rule established in the cases cited by the Fifth District may be sound when attorneys' fees are awarded solely because the action is one brought by an insured against an insurer [in other words, an action brought under section 627.428], the result is not necessarily the same when attorneys' fees are authorized by section 627.756 because the action arises out of a claim on a construction bond."<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Petitioners boldly state that "[t]here is no legal or logical basis for the Fifth District's conclusion" that <u>Moritz</u> does not apply to section 627.428 actions. Initial Brief of Petitioners at 8. Petitioners then directly contradict this statement one page later by stating that "the general rule established in cases cited by the Fifth District may be sound when attorneys' fees are awarded solely because the action is one brought by an insured against an insurer," i.e., a section 627.428 action. Initial Brief of Petitioners at 9.

Initial Brief of Petitioners at 9. In making this argument, the petitioners misinterpret and mischaracterize the nature of an award of attorney's fees under section 627.756, which is, by definition, an action by an insured against an insurer.

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